
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COUR T
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

STATE OF NEW YORK, STATE OF ARIZONA ,
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, STATE O F
CONNECTICUT, STATE OF ILLINOIS, STAT E
OF MAINE, COMMONWEALTH .OF
MASSACHUSETTS, STATE OF MINNESOTA ,
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE, STATE OF NEW
JERSEY, COMMONWEALTH OF
PENNSYLVANIA, DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, and STATE
OF VERMONT,
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Plaintiffs,

v .

STEPHEN L. JOHNSON, in his official capacity as
Administrator of the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency, and the U .S. ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION AGENCY,

Defendants .

X

COMPLAINT

The State of New York, the State of Arizona, the State of California, the State o f

Connecticut, the State of Illinois, the State of Maine, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, th e

State of Minnesota, the State of New Hampshire, the State of New Jersey, the Commonwealth o f

Pennsylvania, Department of Environmental Protection and the State cf Vermont (collectively ,

the "Plaintiff States"), each represented by and by authority of its State Attorney General, or, i n

the case of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of Environmental Protection, it s

Chief Counsel, allege as follows :



NATURE OF THE ACTIO N

1 . The Plaintiff States file this action against the United States Environmental Protection

Agency (the "Agency") and its Administrator, Stephen L . Johnson (the "Administrator, " and

collectively with the Agency, "EPA") to invalidate EPA regulations that weaken the Toxic s

Release Inventory ("TRI ") program in violation of the Emergency Preparedness and Communit y

Right-to-Know Act ("EPCRA"), 42 U .S .C . §§ 11001-11050, the Pollution Prevention Act

("PPA"), 42 U.S.C. §§ 13101-13109, and the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"), 5 U .S.C.

§§ 551-559 & 701-706. 1

.

	

2 . In general, the TRI program requires facilities that use and dispose of a wide variety o f

toxic chemicals in excess of certain reporting threshold levels to file annual reports .

3. Those reports disclose, among other things, the amount of the chemicals released t o

the air, water and land and the maximum amount of the chemicals on site .

4. Thus, TRI does not impose limits on the amount of pollution that a facility can emit .

but instead simply requires that the facility report information concerning its toxic chemical us e

and disposal to EPA and the government of its home state .

5. That information is made available to the public through an EPA internet database .

6. From these simple foundations, TRI has become "one of the most powerful forces i n

empowering the federal government, state and local governments, industry, environmenta l

groups and the general public to fully participate in an informed dialogue about th e

environmental impacts of toxic chemicals in the United States ." U .S. Environmental Protection

Agency, Office of Environmental Information, Economic Analysis of the Toxics Releas e

' A number of acronyms appear in this complaint . For ease of reference, a list of them i s
annexed as Appendix A .
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Inventory Phase 2 Burden Reduction Rule, docket no. EPA-HQ-TRI-2005-0073-4988 through

-4997, at 5-1 (Sept. 22, 2006) (hereinafter, "Economic Analysis (Final Rule)") .

7. TRI has been at the heart of one of our nation's most successful voluntary pollutio n

control efforts .

8. Due to TRI, many companies have dramatically reduced their chemical use and

release, in some cases by 50 percent or more .

9. In the earliest years of the TRI program, between 1988 and 1994, nationwide release s

of TRI chemicals decreased by 44 percent . Releases of hydrochloric acid, for example, decrease d

by 55 .4 percent, or over 266 million pounds, during that period .

10. TRI information has also provided assistance in dealing with hazardous emergenc y

situations such as along the Gulf Coast after Hurricane Katrina .

11. According to defendant EPA, "TRI data have proved to be an important tool i n

environmental justice . Communities that were once uninformed about the toxic chemica l

releases in their area now have access to that information ." U.S. Environmental Protection

Agency, Office of Environmental Information, How Are the Toxic Release Inventory Data Used ?

- government, business, academic and citizen uses, at 8, EPA-260-R-002-004 (May 2003) ,

available at New York Attorney General, et al., Appendix of Sources Cited in the Comments o n

the TRI Burden Reduction Proposed Rule, Vol . 1, docket no . EPA-HQ-TRI-2005-0073-4553 . 1

(Jan . 12, 2006), Tab 3 at 8 (document submitted to EPA and available in rulemaking record a t

EPA headquarters but not added to internet docket database) .

12. In light of such uses of TRI information, EPA has concluded that "TRI data are o f

paramount importance to environmental protection ." U.S . Environmental Protection Agency,

Office of Environmental Information, Response to Comments : Toxics Release Inventory Phase 2
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Burden Reduction Rule, docket no. EPA-HQ-TRI-2005-0073-5008, at 14 (Dec. 18, 2006 )

(hereinafter, "Response to Comments") .

13. On December 18, 2006, however, EPA promulgated regulations that unlawfull y

increase TRI reporting thresholds and as a result unlawfully weaken TRI data reporting

requirements . Toxics Release Inventory Burden Reduction Final Rule, 71 Fed. Reg. 76932 (Dec .

22, 2006) (the "Final Rule" or the "2006 Regulations") .

14. This rulemaking violated the law in several ways .

15. First, EPCRA only allows EPA to increase reporting thresholds if the new threshold s

ensure that EPA will continue to obtain reporting on a "substantial majority " of the releases for

each chemical subject to the new thresholds .

16. EPA's own calculations show, however, that the increased reporting threshold s

established by the Final Rule could eliminate all reporting of release quantities for at least 2 6

chemicals, and could eliminate fifty percent or more of the reporting of release quantities for a t

least 20 more chemicals .

17. Since elimination of reporting for half or more of releases for dozens of chemical s

does not preserve reporting on a majority of releases for each of those chemicals, let alone a

"substantial majority," the Final Rule violates EPCRA .

18. Second, EPA has increased reporting thresholds for many substances in one of th e

most dangerous categories of chemicals, the persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic ("PBT " )

compounds .

19. For example, among these PBT chemicals is mercury, which is a potent neurotoxin .

20. Almost seven years ago, in a previous TRI rulemaking on PBT chemicals, EP A

concluded that it was "particularly important to gather and disseminate to the public relevan t
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information on even relatively small amounts of releases and other waste management of PB T

chemicals ." Persistent Bioaccumulative Toxic (PBT) Chemicals ; Final Rule, 64 Fed. Reg .

58666, 58729/2-3 (Oct. 29, 1999) .

21. At that time, EPA rejected an increased reporting threshold of 500 pounds for wast e

management quantities of PBT chemicals because the information reported under that threshol d

would have been "insufficient for conducting analyses on PBT chemicals" and would have bee n

"virtually useless " for communities interested in assessing the risk from such PBT chemicals .

Id. at 58670/2

22. EPA also concluded that the "additional waste management information on PB T

chemicals is very important to communities because it helps them understand the quantities o f

EPCRA section 313 chemicals that are being transported through their communities . " Id. at

58732/3-58733/1 .

23. In the 2006 Regulations, EPA has now undertaken a 180-degree reversal, setting a

reporting threshold of 500 pounds for waste management quantities of mercury and other PB T

chemicals subject to certain conditions .

24. As EPA suggested six years ago, this new reporting threshold will decrease th e

amount of information available concerning facilities' use of PBT chemicals and management o f

PBT chemical waste, and as a result will reduce citizens' ability to understand how much of such

chemicals are used, and how much waste of such chemicals was generated, at facilities in thei r

communities .

25. Because EPA has not provided an adequate explanation for this reversal of position ,

the rulemaking for the 2006 Regulations was arbitrary and capricious .
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26. Third, EPA justifies the Final Rule as an effort to reduce reporting burdens fo r

facilities subject to TRI requirements .

27. EPCRA, however, does not require or even contemplate burden reduction as a factor

to be considered in revising reporting thresholds .

28. Moreover, even if reporting burden were a statutorily-recognized factor, EPA 's

burden reduction estimates are unreliable .

29. For example, for most of the chemicals at issue, twenty-five percent of EPA' s

estimated burden reduction comes from savings in recordkeeping and mailing costs, but EP A

explicitly states that recordkeeping requirements will remain the same, and provides no reason t o

conclude that mailing costs will vary.

30. Because EPA's reporting burden rationale lacks adequate legal and factua l

foundations, the 2006 rulemaking is arbitrary and capricious .

31. Fourth, as a further justification for the Final Rule, EPA asserts that the rule creates

an incentive to reduce releases of pollutants to the environment because facilities may seek t o

reduce their releases in order to qualify for the new alternative reporting thresholds and thereb y

avoid full TRI reporting .

32. As noted above, however, the obligation to report under TRI creates a well -

documented incentive to reduce pollutant discharges, and EPA failed to analyze the extent t o

which the rule, by weakening the obligation to report, weakens that existing incentive to reduc e

pollution .

33. EPA's consideration of possible increased incentives to reduce pollution without

considering possible decreased incentives to reduce pollution renders its analysis arbitrary an d

capricious .
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34. In addition, in violation of the APA, 5 U .S .C . § 553(b), EPA failed to provide notic e

that the Final Rule would contain a 2,000 pound reporting threshold for releases .

35. Because of these and other flaws in the rulemaking, the Plaintiff States respectfull y

request an order : declaring that EPA is in violation of EPCRA, the PPA and the APA ;

invalidating the Final Rule ; and requiring EPA to publish in the Federal Register a notic e

sufficient to inform entities that the Final Rule has been vacated and that the TRI reportin g

requirements in effect prior to January 22, 2007 will again be in effect .

THE PARTIE S

The Plaintiff States

36. Plaintiff State of New York is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect it s

own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens and

residents .

37. Plaintiff State of Arizona is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect it s

own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens and

residents .

38. Plaintiff State of California is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect it s

own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens and

residents .

39. Plaintiff State of Connecticut is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect it s

own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens and

residents .
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40. Plaintiff State of Illinois is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect its ow n

sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens an d

residents .

41. Plaintiff State of Maine is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect its ow n

sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens and

residents .

42. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Massachusetts is a sovereign entity and brings this actio n

to protect its own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected

citizens and residents .

43. Plaintiff State of Minnesota is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect it s

own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens an d

residents .

44. Plaintiff State of New Hampshire is a sovereign entity and brings this action t o

protect its own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected

citizens and residents .

45. Plaintiff State of New Jersey is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect it s

own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens and

residents .

46. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of Environmental Protectio n

is an agency of the sovereign Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and brings this action to protec t

the Commonwealth's sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of the

Commonwealth's affected citizens and residents .
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47. Plaintiff State of Vermont is a sovereign entity and brings this action to protect it s

own sovereign and proprietary rights, and as parens patriae on behalf of its affected citizens an d

residents .

The Defendant s

48. Defendant Stephen L. Johnson is sued in his official capacity as Administrator o f

EPA, a position that he has held, on either an acting or official basis, since on or about Januar y

26, 2005 . By statute, the Administrator has power to administer the TRI program, including th e

authority to revise TRI reporting thresholds subject to certain limitations . 42 U.S .C .

§ 11023(0(2) .

49. Defendant U .S. Environmental Protection Agency is the federal government agenc y

headed by the Administrator .

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

50. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to th e

general federal question jurisdiction statute, 28 U .S.C. § 1331 .

51. Venue over this action is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U .S .C . § 1391(e)(3) ,

which establishes venue in an action against an officer or agency of the United States in an y

judicial district in which one of the plaintiffs resides, if no real property is involved in the action .

Plaintiff State of New York resides in this District .

BACKGROUN D

The Importance of TRI Reportin g

52. Since Congress enacted TRI in 1986, companies, states, citizens, the federa l

government and others have used TRI data to address health, safety and environmental issues .
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53 . TRI data have provided a powerful and effective incentive for companies to achiev e

enormous reductions in pollution . Once companies — and the public — learn exactly how muc h

toxic chemicals companies store, generate and release, the companies often strive to reduce thos e

amounts to improve their public image, to save money, or for other reasons .

54. EPA reported that, in the earliest years of the TRI program, between 1988 and 1994 ,

nationwide releases of TRI chemicals were estimated to have declined by 44 .1 percent, or, on

information and belief, approximately 1 .5 billion pounds .

55 . The Monsanto Company reported that it reduced its toxic air emissions by over 9 0

percent between 1988 and 1992 in response to TRI .

56. The Eastman Chemical Company of Kingsport, Tennessee reported that it reduced it s

releases of TRI chemicals by 83 percent since 1988 .

57 . Dow Chemical is reported to have saved more than $10 million because of TRI -

inspired efficiencies in its production activities .

58. States also use TRI data in a wide variety of ways, including :

a. to improve and strengthen permitting programs ;

b. to identify enforcement targets ;

c. to aid in emergency prevention planning and response ;

d. to undertake environmental justice projects ;

e. to analyze toxic releases and risks ;

f. to spur state pollution control legislation and regulation; and

g. to target technical assistance to TRI facilities .

59 . In a 1999 survey assessment, 35 states — 71 percent of those responding — reporte d

that they used TRI information to identify facilities for pollution prevention activities . See New
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York Attorney General, et al., Appendix of Sources Cited in the Comments on the TRI Burden

Reduction Proposed Rule, Vol . 2, docket no . EPA-HQ-TRI-2005-0073-4553 .2 (Jan . 12, 2006) ,

Tab 6 at 2 (document submitted to EPA and available in the rulemaking record at EP A

headquarters but not added to internet docket database) .

60. The New York State Department of Environmental Conservation ( "NYS DEC ") used

TRI data to identify the 400 facilities that generate 95 percent of the state's toxic pollution, an d

then designated those facilities for priority in inspection, enforcement, monitoring and pollution -

prevention planning .

61. On an ongoing basis, NYS DEC uses TRI data for a variety of purposes, including :

(a) to aid in verifying whether facilities are complying with emission limits ; (b) to asses s

facilities for the purpose of negotiating pollution reduction efforts or imposing additional or mor e

stringent permit limits ; (c) to assess facilities for the purpose of determining whether inspection s

are necessary ; (d) to evaluate air pollution and acccinpanying health and environmental risk fro m

emitting facilities ; (e) to verify the accuracy of other state environmental databases ; and (f) to

evaluate facility emergency preparedness plans .

62. Local and statewide citizen groups in New York have used TRI to identify th e

location of facilities that use and release toxic chemicals and to assist in developing projects t o

address such pollution .

63. In California, on an ongoing basis, state agencies use TRI data for a variety o f

purposes . The Department of Justice uses TRI data as one tool to identify or investigat e

violations of California's Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act . Other uses of TRI

data by California state agencies include documenting releases into the environment of chemical s

that the agency is evaluating as part of a standard setting process, preparing reports regardin g
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environmental management including pollution prevention reports and analyses of the state' s

hazardous waste generation and management patterns, and studying the discharge of toxi c

chemicals into water bodies .

64. The Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection ("CT DEP ") has used TRI

data in the formulation of strategic planning efforts to identify and implement assistance ,

inspection and enforcement initiatives .

65. On an ongoing basis, CT DEP uses TRI data for a variety of purposes, including (a )

to assess facilities for the purpose of determining whether inspections are necessary ; (b) to verify

the accuracy of other state environmental databases ; (c) to evaluate facility emergency

preparedness plans ; (d) to assess education and outreach prioritization; and (e) to inform an d

educate stakeholders about issues of concern within their community .

66. Local and statewide citizen groups in Connecticut have used TRI to identify th e

location of facilities that use and release toxic chemicals and to assist in developing projects t o

address such pollution .

67. The Minnesota Pollution Control Agency annually relies on TRI data in providin g

environmental assistance . Among other things, it has used TRI data (a) to identify and trac k

candidates for adopting new pollution prevention technologies ; (b) as an impetus to launch a

volunteer fishing tackle exchange program after a major lead fishing tackle manufacturer wa s

identified as a priority facility ; and (c) in developing "good neighbo r" agreements with facilitie s

emitting TRI chemicals .

68. The State of Delaware used TRI information to identify a major dioxin disposal

problem at a Dupont facility, and then negotiated remediation efforts which included a
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commitment by the facility to change its production processes to reduce its formation of dioxi n

by 90 percent .

69. Firefighters also use TRI data to protect themselves and the public from potentially

dangerous releases caused by accidents or fires at chemical plants, refineries and other sites .

70. Local governments also use TRI data . The Louisville, Kentucky Metro Air Pollutio n

Control Board adopted a plan to reduce toxic air emissions based on TRI and other data .

71. Community groups and average citizens use TRI data . In Richmond, California, for

example, a citizens group teamed up with a statewide environmental organization to use TR I

information to identify the area's 20 largest polluters, then negotiated with the largest polluter, a

Chevron oil refinery, to achieve zero net toxic chemical releases on a new project and to clos e

down older portions of the facility .

72. In Minnesota, citizens used TRI information to convince a company to reduce it s

130,000 pounds of toluene emissions by 98 perceni .

73. In Ohio, it was reported that citizens groups used TRI information to obtain a

commitment from B .F. Goodrich that it would reduce its toxic air emissions by 70 percent .

74. Scientists use TRI data . In February 2000, for example, the journal Drug and

Chemical Toxicology published an article showing how public health professionals are able t o

use TRI or other similar data as part of analysis to identify and define populations potentiall y

exposed to risk from toxic chemicals .

75. Labor unions use TRI data . The United Auto Workers Union has accessed an d

analyzed TRI and other environmental data to assess industrial emergency response capabilitie s

at various plants .

13



76. Investment funds use TRI data to evaluate the environmental performance o f

companies so that they can target their investments to support companies that have strong

environmental records .

77. The federal government also uses TRI data . The National Institutes of Health, for

example, used TRI data to establish a website that provided information for assessing th e

environmental hazards caused by Hurricane Katrina .

78. EPA's Office of Health Research published a study of national and regiona l

differences in county-level TRI chemical releases according to ethnicity or race and income .

79. EPA's Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance has used TRI data as par t

of its Online Tracking Information System, a collection of online search engines used fo r

enforcement targeting, facility review prior to inspections, and general enforcement and

compliance program planning .

80. The Department of Housing and Urban Development has used TRI data to establish a

nationwide "Map Your Community" database that allows individuals to enter their home

addresses and generate a map showing the location of nearby TRI reporting facilities . See, e .g . ,

HUD Locator Services at http ://egis .hud.gov/egis/ .

81. Even the Internal Revenue Service has used TRI data to enforce a tax on releases o f

chlorofluorocarbons, a potent contributor to the destruction of the ozone layer .

General Statutory Authority for TRI Reportin g

82. The statutory authority for the TRI program is found in section 313 of EPCRA, 4 2

U.S .C . § 11023, and section 6607 of PPA, 42 U .S.C. § 13106 .

83. Under EPCRA section 313, a facility that has ten or more full-time employees an d

falls within one of a number of specific industrial classification codes must submit an annua l
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report form to EPA and the government of its home state if the facility manufactures, processe s

or otherwise uses certain chemicals in excess of certain reporting thresholds . 42 U .S.C .

§§ 11023(a) & (b)(1)(A) .

84. As for the chemicals, section 313 designates a set of chemicals or chemical groups as

subject to TRI reporting requirements ("TRI chemicals"), and also gives the EPA Administrato r

power to add or delete chemicals from that list . 42 U .S.C . §§ 11023(c) & (d) . There were

originally more than 300 TRI chemicals, and currently, there are more than 600 .

85 . Those TRI chemicals include substances known to cause brain, blood, respiratory an d

developmental problems, including cancer .

86 . As for the reporting thresholds, in EPCRA section 313(fl(1), Congress establishe d

TRI thresholds that vary based on whether the facility manufactures the TRI chemical, processe s

it, or uses the chemical in some other way . Specifically, under the statute, a facility must report

regarding a TRI chemical if in the previous year it :

a. manufactured or processed more than 25,000 pounds of the chemical ; or

b. otherwise used more than 10,000 pounds of the chemical .

42 U.S.C. §§ 11023(0(1)(A) & (f)(1)(B)(iii) .

87. EPA promulgated regulations incorporating these statutory reporting thresholds in

1988 . Toxic Chemical Release Reporting; Community Right-to-know, 53 Fed. Reg. 4500 (Feb .

16, 1988) (promulgating 40 C .F.R. part 372) .

88. A facility that is subject to TRI reporting requirements must, for each TRI chemical

manufactured, processed or used at the facility, complete a toxic chemical release form . 42

U.S .C. § 11023(a) .
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89 . Pursuant to EPCRA section 313(g)(1), the toxic release form must provide for the

submission of, among other things, the following information :

a. whether the TRI chemical is manufactured, processed or otherwise used at the

facility ;

b. an estimate of the maximum amounts (in ranges) of the TRI chemical presen t

at the facility at any time during the preceding calendar year ; and

c. the annual quantity of releases of the TRI chemical from the facility, that is, th e

amount of the chemical entering each environmental medium — land, air and water.

42 U.S .C . § 11023(g)(1)(C) .

90 . PPA section 6607(b) requires that each owner or operator of a facility required to fil e

a TRI report under EPCRA section 313 must also include in that TRI report the followin g

information :

a. the quantity of the TRI chemical entering any waste stream prior to recycling ,

treatment or disposal ;

b. the amount of the TRI chemical that is recycled, and the process used ; and

c. a ratio of production of the TRI chemical in the reporting year to the

production in the previous year .

42 U.S.C. §§ 13106(a), (b) & (c) .

91 . The data elements required by EPCRA section 313(g)(1), 42 U .S .C . § 11023(8)(1) ,

and the data elements required by PPA section 6607(b), 42 U .S.C. § 13106(b), define reporting

for the TRI program . An information disclosure by a facility subject to TRI reportin g

requirements that does not include those elements does not constitute reporting under TRI .
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Form R

92. Pursuant to EPCRA section 313(g), 42 U .S.C. § 11023(g), EPA has created Toxi c

Chemical Release Inventory Reporting Form R ("Form R "), which facilities use to report the

information required under EPCRA section 313 and PPA section 6607 .

93. More specifically, facilities are required to report the following annual quantities fo r

each TRI chemical in sections 8 .1-8.8 of Form R :

Quantity of releases, including the following subquantities :

Total on-site disposal to landfills and injection well s
Total other on-site disposal or other release s
Total off site disposal to landfills and injection
wells
Total other off site disposal or other release s

Quantity used for energy recovery on sit e

Quantity used for energy recovery off sit e

Quantity recycled on sit e

Quantity recycled off site

Quantity treated on sit e

Quantity treated off sit e

Quantity released to the environment as a result of remedia l
actions, catastrophic events or one-time events not
associated with production processe s

94. The sum of the amounts reported in sections 8 .1 through 8 .7 is referred to as "tota l

production related waste," as it reflects the total amount of waste forms of the chemica l

generated in the course of ordinary production activities at the facility .

Section 8 . 1

• Section 8 .1 a
• Section 8 . l b
• Section 8 .1 c

. Section 8 .1 d

Section 8 . 2

Section 8 . 3

Section 8 . 4

Section 8 . 5

Section 8 . 6

Section 8 . 7

Section 8 .8
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95. The sum of the amounts reported in section 8 .1 plus the amount of releases to the

environment reported in section 8 .8 is referred to as "releases ," as it reflects the amount of wast e

forms of the chemical released to the environment .

The 1994 Regulations and Form A Certifications

96. EPCRA section 313(0(2), 42 U .S.C. § 11023(0(2), gives the Administrato r

authority, subject to certain conditions, to establish reporting thresholds different from those tha t

Congress set in section 313(0(1) .

97 . In November 1994, EPA promulgated regulations (the "1994 Regulations ") that

established an alternate set of TRI reporting thresholds (the "alternate reporting thresholds") .

Alternate Threshold for Facilities With Low Annual Reportable Amounts ; Toxic Chemica l

Release Reporting ; Community Right-To-Know, 59 Fed. Reg. 61488 (Nov. 30, 1994) .

98. Specifically, the 1994 Regulations provided that a facility that was otherwise subjec t

to reporting requirements for a TRI chemical did not need to file Form R if during the reportin g

year it :

a. manufactured, processed or otherwise used 1 million pounds or less of th e

chemical ; and

b. had an annual reportable amount ("ARA ") of 500 pounds or less of th e

chemical .

Id. at 61489, 61502 .

99. The ARA, as defined in the 1994 Regulations, was equal to the total productio n

related waste, as defined in paragraph 94 above . Id. at 61489-90 .
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100. A facility that met the alternate reporting thresholds for a TRI chemical could stil l

file Form R if it so chose . However, if that facility did not want to file Form R for that chemical ,

the regulations required it to certify that it met the alternate reporting thresholds . Id. at 61489 .

101 . To implement this certification option, EPA created a certification form known a s

Form A. Form A required the facility to certify that it manufactured, processed or otherwise use d

1 million pounds or less of the chemical and had an ARA of 500 pounds or less .

102. Form A does not, however, require the facility to report certain data element s

reported on Form R and required by EPCRA section 313(g)(1), 42 U .S .C. § 11023(g)(1), an d

PPA section 6607(b), 42 U.S .C . § 13106(b), specifically :

a. whether the TRI chemical is manufactured, processed or otherwise used at th e

facility ;

b. an estimate of the maximum amounts (in ranges) of the TRI chemical presen t

at the facility at any time during the preceding calendar year ;

c. the annual quantity of the TRI chemical entering each environmental mediu m

– land, air and water;

d. the quantity of the TRI chemical entering any waste stream prior to recycling ,

treatment or disposal ;

e. the amount of the TRI chemical that is recycled, and the process used ; and

f. the ratio of production of the TRI chemical in the reporting year to th e

production in the previous year .

103 . Because Form A does not include these elements, it does not constitute reportin g

under EPCRA and PPA . See paragraphs 89-91 above .
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The 1999 PBT Regulations and the 2001 Lead Regulation s

104. In 1999, EPA promulgated regulations that revised TRI reporting thresholds fo r

PBT chemicals (the "1999 PBT Regulations ") . Persistent Bioaccumulative Toxic (PBT)

Chemicals; Final Rule, 64 Fed. Reg. 58666 (Oct . 29, 1999) .

105. The 1999 PBT Regulations changed TRI reporting requirements in two ways . First ,

the 1994 PBT Regulations provided that facilities could not file Form A for PBT chemicals . Id.

at 58670/2, 5867212 .

106. Second, the 1999 PBT Regulations established more stringent reporting threshold s

for PBT chemicals than those set in the statute .

107. For this purpose, EPA divided PBT chemicals into three groups: (a) PBT chemical s

that were highly persistent and highly bioaccumulative (the "highly PBT chemicals") ; (b) dioxin s

and dioxin-like compounds; and (c) the remaining PBT chemicals (the "remaining PB T

chemicals") .

108. For the highly PBT chemicals, the 1999 PBT Regulations required that a facility fil e

a Form R if in the previous year it manufactured, processed or otherwise used more than 1 0

pounds of the chemical . Id . at 58672/1 .

109. For the remaining PBT chemicals, the 1999 PBT Regulations required that a facilit y

file a Form R if in the previous year it manufactured, processed or otherwise used more than 10 0

pounds of the chemical . Id.

110. Although lead and lead compounds (collectively, "lead ") are PBT chemicals, they

were not subject to the 1999 PBT Regulations .

2 The 2006 Regulations do not change reporting requirements for dioxins and dioxin-lik e
compounds, and thus the Plaintiff States do not discuss those compounds further in this

complaint .
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1 11 . In 2001, EPA promulgated new regulations (the "2001 Lead Regulations ") that

revised TRI reporting thresholds for lead . Lead and Lead Compounds ; Lowering of Reporting

Thresholds ; Community Right-to-Know Toxic Chemical Release Reporting ; Final Rule, 66 Fed .

Reg. 4500 (Jan . 17, 2001) .

112. The 2001 Lead Regulations established the same reporting thresholds for lead as for

the remaining PBT chemicals . Thus, the 2001 Lead Regulations provided that facilities could

not use Form A for lead and required that a facility file a Form R report if in the previous year i t

manufactured, processed or otherwise used more than 100 pounds of lead . Id. at 4505/1 .

113. Thus, to summarize, the following TRI reporting thresholds were in effect as of th e

end of 2001 (the "preexisting reporting thresholds ") :

Type of
Chemical Re orting Requirementp Alternate Reporting Requirement

Non-dioxin
PBT
chemicals

For highly PBT chemicals :

A facility must file Form R if i t
manufactures, processes or uses
more than 10 lbs . of the chemical .

None .

For remaining PBT chemicals, includin g

lead :

A facility must file Form R if i t
manufactures, processes or use s
more than 100 lbs . of the
chemical .

Non-PBT
chemicals

A facility must file Form R if i t
manufactures or processes more than
25,000 lbs. of the chemical, or otherwis e
uses more than 10,000 lbs . of the
chemical .

Instead of filing Form R, a
facility may file Form A if it (a )
manufactures, processes or use s
1,000,000 lbs . or less of the
chemical, and (b) has an ARA of
500 lbs . or less for the chemical .
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The 2006 Regulations at Issue in This Litigatio n

114. In October 2005, EPA published proposed revisions to the existing TRI reportin g

requirements for public comment (the "Proposed Rule ") . Toxics Release Inventory Burde n

Reduction Proposed Rule, 70 Fed. Reg. 57822/2 (Oct . 4, 2005) .

115. The Proposed Rule sets forth a revised set of alternate reporting thresholds for non-

PBT chemicals, and a new set of alternate reporting thresholds for the highly PBT chemicals an d

the remaining PBT chemicals, including lead (collectively, the "covered PBT chemicals ") .

116. For non-PBT chemicals, EPA proposed to relax the alternate reportin g

requirements by increasing the ARA threshold from 500 pounds to 5,000 pounds . Thus, if a

facility manufactured, processed or used 1,000,000 pounds or less of the chemical, and had a

ARA of 5,000 pounds or less, it could use Form A. Id. at 57842/1 .

117. For the covered PBT chemicals, EPA proposed to allow replacement of ful l

reporting under Form R with certification under Form A . Form A could be used if thre e

conditions were met: the facility (a) manufactured, processed or used 1,000,000 pounds or less

of the chemical; (b) had an "PBT reportable amount" ("PRA") of 500 pounds or less for th e

chemical ; and (c) had zero releases of the chemical . Id. at 57383/3 .

118. EPA defined the PRA as the sum of the amounts reported in sections 8 .2 through

8 .8 of Form R, see paragraph 93 above, reflecting the amount of waste management quantities ,

other than production-related releases, from the facility . Id.

119. The Proposed Rule also proposed the revision of the Form A certificatio n

requirements to be consistent with the proposed new alternative reporting thresholds . Id. at

57847/3 .
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120. In support of the Proposed Rule, EPA prepared an economic analysis . See U.S .

Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Environmental Information, Economic Analysis of

the Proposed Toxics Release Inventory Phase II Burden Reduction Rule, docket no . EPA-HQ-

TRI-2005-0073-0002 through -0010 (Sept . 19, 2005) (hereinafter, "Economic Analysis

(Proposed Rule)") .

121. EPA received well over 100,000 written comments on the proposed changes, th e

vast majority of which opposed weakening of TRI reporting requirements .

122. EPA prepared written responses to some of those comments . See generally

Response to Comments .

123. On December 22, 2006, EPA promulgated the Final Rule . See Toxics Release

Inventory Burden Reduction Final Rule, 71 Fed. Reg. 76932 (Dec . 22, 2006) .

124. With regard to covered PBT chemicals, the final regulations set forth the sam e

alternate reporting thresholds as the Proposed Rule, as set forth in paragraph 117 above . 40

C .F.R. § 372.27(a)(2) ; see also 71 Fed. Reg. at 76937/2 .

125. With regard to non-PBT chemicals, the final regulations were not the same as th e

proposed regulations, as they added a new 2,000-pound threshold criterion for releases .

126. Thus, the final regulations provided that a facility could use Form A for non-PB T

chemicals if three conditions were met : the facility (a) manufactured, processed or use d

1,000,000 pounds or less of the chemical ; (b) had an ARA of 5,000 pounds or less for the

chemical ; and (c) had 2,000 pounds or less in releases of the chemical . 40 C.F .R. § 372 .27(a)(1) ;

see also 71 Fed. Reg. at 76937/3 .

127. The final regulations also redefined the ARA (the "expanded ARA") . Under the

new definition, the expanded ARA was equal to the previous ARA, as defined in paragraph 9 9
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above, plus the amount of any releases reported in section 8 .8. 40 C.F.R. § 372 .27(a)(1)(ii) ; see

also 71 Fed. Reg. at 76937/3-76938/1 .

128. The proposed regulations did not propose any threshold limit regarding the amoun t

of releases for non-PBT chemicals, and in fact did not even mention the idea of such a threshol d

for non-PBT chemicals . See, e .g ., 71 Fed. Reg. at 76937/3 .

129. As in the Proposed Rule, the Final Rule revised the Form A certificatio n

requirements to be consistent with the new alternative reporting thresholds . 40 C.F.R .

§ 372.95(b)(4)(i) & (ii) ; see also 71 Fed. Reg. at 76945/2-3 .

130. In support of the Final Rule, EPA prepared a revised economic analysis . See

generally Economic Analysis (Final Rule) .

131. The 2006 Regulations became effective on January 22, 2007 . 71 Fed . Reg. at

76932/2 .

132. Thus, to summarize, the following TRI reporting thresholds are now in effect ; the

provisions added or revised in the 2006 Regulations are indicated in boldface type :

Type of
Chemical Reporting Requirement Alternate Reporting Requirement

Non-dioxin
PBT
chemicals

For highly PBT chemicals :

A facility must file Form R if i t
manufactures, processes or use s
more than 10 lbs . of the chemical .

For remaining PBT chemicals, includin g

lead :

A facility must file Form R if i t
manufactures, processes or use s
more than 100 lbs . of the
chemical .

[added] Instead of filing For m
R, a facility may file Form A i f
it (a) manufactures, processes
or uses 1,000,000 lbs . or less of
the chemical, (b) has an PRA of
500 lbs . or less for the chemical ,
and (c) has no releases of the
chemical .
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Type of
Chemical Reporting Requirement Alternate Reporting Requiremen t

Non-PB T
chemicals

A facility must file Form R if i t
manufactures or processes more than

25,000 lbs . of the chemical, or otherwise

uses more than 10,000 lbs . of the
chemical .

[revised] Instead of filing For m
R, a facility may file Form A if
it (a) manufactures, processes
or uses 1,000,000 lbs . or less of
the chemical, (b) has an
expanded ARA of 5,000 lbs. or

less for the chemical, and (c )
has releases of 2,000 lbs . or less
of the chemical .

133. The first TRI reports subject to the 2006 revised reporting requirements were due o n

or before July 1, 2007, for reporting year (i.e., calendar year) 2006 . Id. at 76932/2 .

The Plaintiff States' Standing

134. The effect of the Final Rule will be to reduce the amount of data available in th e

TRI database regarding releases, other waste management practices and quantities stored on sit e

of TRI chemicals .

135. By statute, a facility files its TRI reports with both EPA and the government of th e

state in which it is located . 42 U.S .C . § 11023(a) .

136. As noted in paragraphs 58-61, 63-65 and 67 above, the Plaintiff States use TRI dat a

in a variety of ways .

137. As noted in paragraphs 62 and 66 above, the citizens of the Plaintiff States use TR I

data in a variety of ways .

138. If this Court does not invalidate the 2006 Regulations, the Plaintiff States and th e

citizens upon whose behalf the Plaintiff States file this suit as parens patriae will experience

irreparable and imminent harm, as their ability to use TRI data for those purposes will b e

permanently impaired because there will be significantly less information in the TRI databas e

regarding releases and other waste streams available for them to use .
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139. This concrete, actual, imminent harm to the Plaintiff States and their affecte d

citizens is directly traceable to EPA's promulgation of the regulations . EPA itself assumes that

at least some facilities will take advantage of new opportunities provided by the 200 6

Regulations to file Form A rather than Form R, and as a result those facilities will provide les s

TRI information for the Plaintiff States and their affected citizens to use .

140. A decision of this Court invalidating the 2006 Regulations would redress thi s

concrete, imminent harm to the Plaintiff States and their affected citizens by reinstating the prior ,

more comprehensive reporting requirements .

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIE F

5 U.S. C. § 706(2)(A) & (C)
Violations of EPCRA section 3130(2) and PPA sections 6607(a)-(c) -

EPA 's failure to apply the substantial majority standar d
on uchemical-by-chemical basis

141. The Plaintiff States reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 14 0

in this claim for relief .

142. EPCRA section 313(0(2), 42 U .S .C . § 110230(2), authorizes EPA to revise TRI

reporting thresholds based on an analysis of the impact of the revised thresholds on reporting fo r

individual chemicals, not the aggregate of all chemicals .

143. Specifically, section 313(0(2) states that EPA may revise the threshold for a TR I

chemical so long as the revised threshold "shall obtain reporting on a substantial majority of tota l

releases of the chemical" at all facilities subject to the requirements of section 313 . 42 U .S.C .

§ 110230(2) (emphasis added) .

144. Thus, while EPA may establish a revised reporting threshold that applies to mor e

than one TRI chemical, the "substantial majority" test must be met for each chemical subject to

that revised threshold .
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145. PPA sections 6607(a)-(c) provide that facilities required to file information unde r

EPCRA section 313 must also file additional information regarding waste management practices ,

so that reporting thresholds for EPCRA apply also to PPA reporting requirements . 42 U .S .C .

§ 13106(a)-(c) .

146. In promulgating the non-PBT part of the 2006 Regulations, EPA did not meet th e

EPCRA section 313(0(2) chemical-by-chemical test .

147. EPA's own analysis shows that the Final Rule, if it had been in effect for reportin g

year 2004, could have resulted in the replacement of full Form R reporting with Form A

certifications for 100 percent of the releases for each of at least 26 non-PBT chemicals .

148. Because Form A certifications do not report the amount of releases of the chemical ,

the potential replacement of all Form R reporting with Form A certifications for a TRI chemica l

does not preserve reporting on a "substantial majority" of releases for that chemical .

149. Indeed, if all reporting for a chemical was on Form A, as would have been the case ,

according to EPA's analyses, for dozens of TRI chemicals in both 2002 and 2004 had the 200 6

Rule been in effect, there would be no way to determine whether or not there were any release s

of that chemical in the United States, because under the 2006 Regulations, Form A does no t

distinguish between zero releases and releases of up to one ton .

150. In addition, EPA's own analysis shows that the Final Rule, if it had been in effect

for reporting year 2004, could have resulted in the replacement of full Form R reporting wit h

Form A certifications for between 50 and 100 percent of the releases for at least 20 additiona l

non-PBT chemicals .
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151. Thus, EPA's own analysis shows that for at least 46 non-PBT chemicals, the ne w

alternative reporting thresholds might not have preserved reporting on a majority of releases, let

alone a "substantial" majority .

152. As a result, the parts of the 2006 Regulations establishing alternate reportin g

thresholds for non-PBT chemicals do not meet the statutory requirement that EPA "shall obtai n

reporting on a substantial majority of total releases" of each TRI chemical .

153. The 2006 Regulations are therefore not in accordance with EPCRA sectio n

3130(2), 42 U.S .C . § 11023(0(2), or PPA sections 6607(a)-(c), 42 U .S.C. §§ 13106(a)-(c), and

are in excess of those statutory authorities and limitations .

154. Thus, APA section 703, 5 U .S .C . § 703, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 2 8

U.S .C . § 2201(a), entitle the Plaintiff States to a declaration in this actual controversy that the

provisions of the Final Rule regarding non-PBT chemicals are not in accordance with law and ar e

in excess of statutory authority and limitations .

155. In addition, APA sections 706(2)(A) and (C), 5 U .S.C . §§ 706(2)(A) & (C), giv e

this Court the power to hold unlawful and set aside the provisions of the Final Rule regardin g

non-PBT chemicals, and in particular 40 C .F .R. §§ 372.27(a)(1) and 372 .95(b)(4)(i) .

156. EPA's violations of law have injured and continue to injure the Plaintiff States an d

their affected citizens . Relief in this action would benefit the Plaintiff States and their affected

citizens by invalidating the new, less stringent alternative reporting thresholds for non-PB T

chemicals and thereby ensure that facilities continue to provide more comprehensive informatio n

about their use, releases and other waste management quantities of TRI chemicals .

157. APA sections 702 and 703, 5 U .S.C. §§ 702 & 703, authorize the award o f

injunctive relief for EPA's violations of law . The Plaintiff States and their affected citizens have

28



no adequate remedy at law for EPA's unlawful weakening of TRi reporting requirements . The

Plaintiff States and their affected citizens continue to suffer irreparable injury as a result o f

EPA's unlawful action .

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIE F

5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A)
Arbitrary and capricious rulemaking -

EPA 's failure to demonstrate that the reporting thresholds for non-PBT chemicals
in the final rule satisfy the "substantial majority " standar d

158. The Plaintiff States reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 15 7

in this claim for relief.

159. Agency rulemaking is arbitrary and capricious if the agency has offered a n

explanation for its decision that runs counter to the evidence before the agency or is s o

implausible that it could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of agenc y

expertise, or if the agency has failed to respond in a reasoned manner to significant comment s

received .

160. A group of commenters noted that provisions of the Proposed Rule applicable t o

non-PBT chemicals violated EPCRA section 313(0(2) because those provisions did not ensur e

reporting on "a substantial majority of releases " on a chemical-by-chemical basis for eac h

chemical subject to those provisions . Response to Comments at 105 .

161. In response, EPA stated that it had added a 2,000-pound threshold for releases in th e

Final Rule, in addition to the 5,000-pound ARA threshold and the 1,000,000-pound use threshol d

in the Proposed Rule . Response to Comments at 106 .

162. EPA did not explain, or even state, however, whether the addition of the 2,000 -

pound threshold was sufficient to ensure reporting of a substantial majority of releases on a
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chemical-by-chemical basis for each chemical subject to those provisions . Response to

Comments at 106 .

163. EPA also stated that, under the Final Rule, Form A certifications would "serve as a

range report, informing the public that total releases [are] in the range of zero to 2,000 pound s

and that total waste management . . . is in the range of zero to 5,000 pounds . " Response to

Comments at 106 ; see also id. at 59 .

164. EPA's explanation that Form A certification, by serving as a "range report, " meets

the substantial majority test relies on the untenable premise that Form A certification provide s

"reporting" on releases . Form A does not meet the requirements for reporting specified i n

EPCRA section 313(g)(1), 42 U .S.C. § 11023(g)(1), and PPA section 6607(b), 42 U .S.C .

§ 13106(b) . See paragraphs 89-91 above .

165. The zero-to-2,000-pound "range reporting" provided by Form A under the 200 6

Regulations does not distinguish between facilities that have no releases and facilities that d o

have releases, including facilities with significant releases of up to a ton of the TRI chemical a t

issue .

166. Thus, a citizen reading the Form A "range report" would not even know the mos t

basic information about the facility's releases : whether or not there were any releases .

167. For example, toluene-2,6-diisocyanate ("2,6-TDI") is a non-PBT chemical . It is a

volatile substance that is reasonably anticipated to be a carcinogen, can irritate and burn the ski n

and eyes on contact, and can irritate the nose, throat and lungs if inhaled, potentially causin g

pulmonary edema. It was reported that after a December 2004 toluene diisocyanate spill at th e

Reiss Industries plant in Watertown, Wisconsin, four employees were taken to the hospital an d

people from 21 houses nearby had to wait for their homes to be cleared before they could return .
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See "Four Injured in Watertown Chemical Spill, " Wisconsin State Journal, Dec. 16, 2004 ,

available at http ://www.madison .com/archives/read .php?ref=/wsj/2004/ 12/16/0412150789 .php .

168. In 2003, the Cytec facility in Olean, New York released almost a half ton (96 7

pounds) of 2,6-TDI to the air within 1 .5 miles of four elementary schools, and reported a

maximum amount of over five tons on site .

169. If the Cytec facility qualifies for Form A under the new rules, the citizens of Olean

may not be able to determine from the TRI database in the future whether the facility continues t o

release that same amount of this chemical near the community ' s schools, has doubled thos e

releases to just under 2,000 pounds, or has completely eliminated those releases .

170. Nor might those citizens be able to tell from the TRI database how much 2,6-TD I

was stored on site near those schools in 2007, because the maximum amount stored on site is no t

reported on Form A .

171. More generally, had the Final Rule been in effect in 2004, EPA determined tha t

there would have been at least twenty-six chemicals for which all facilities would have been abl e

to submit Form A certifications rather than provide reporting on Form R . Economic Analysis

(Final Rule) at A-17 .

172. Thus, by EPA's own analysis, had the Final Rule been in effect in 2004, and had al l

2004 filings for those twenty-six chemicals occurred on Form A, the TRI database would hav e

provided no information as to whether there were any releases anywhere in the nation for thos e

chemicals .

173. EPA estimates that the Final Rule would allow facilities to convert approximatel y

9,500 Form Rs for non-PBT chemicals to Form A certification . Economic Analysis (Final Rule)

at 5-3 .
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174. If that were to occur, the aggregate information available from those 9,500 Form A

certifications would be that the total amount of releases nationwide was somewhere between zer o

pounds and 19 million pounds .

175. Such lack of information is not "reporting . "

176. Indeed, although in some parts of the administrative record EPA contends that Form

A certification represents continued reporting, in other parts EPA admits that Form A

certification is a loss in reporting .

177. For example, the economic analysis of the Final Rule calculated the percentages of

releases that "would no longer be reported to TRI ." Economic Analysis (Final Rule) at 5-3 .

178. That analysis also provided a calculation of the pounds of total releases and tota l

production related waste that "would no longer be reported ." Id.

179. For these reasons, any EPA assertion that Form A "range reporting " constitutes a

means of satisfying the substantial majority test for non-PBT chemicals is so implausible that i t

cannot be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of agency expertise . That issue, along

with EPA 's failure to respond in a reasoned manner to comments raising it, render the 200 6

rulemaking arbitrary and capricious .

180. In addition, EPA's failure otherwise to explain how the Final Rule satisfied th e

substantial majority test, and its failure to respond in a reasoned manner to comments raising tha t

issue, render the 2006 rulemaking arbitrary and capricious .

181. Because this aspect of the 2006 rulemaking is arbitrary and capricious, APA sectio n

703, 5 U .S .C. § 703, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U .S.C. § 2201(a), entitle the Plaintiff

States to a declaration that EPA has violated the law in this actual controversy .
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182. In addition, APA section 706(2)(A), 5 U .S .C. § 706(2)(A), gives this Court th e

power to hold unlawful and set aside the provisions of the Final Rule regarding non-PB T

chemicals, and in particular 40 C .F .R. §§ 372.27(a)(1) and 372.95(b)(4) (

183. EPA's violation of the APA has injured and continues to injure the Plaintiff States

and their affected citizens . Relief in this action would benefit the Plaintiff States and thei r

affected citizens by invalidating the new alternative reporting thresholds and thereby ensure that

facilities continue to provide more comprehensive information about their use, releases and othe r

waste management quantities of TRI chemicals .

184. APA sections 702 and 703, 5 U .S.C. §§ 702 & 703, authorize the award o f

injunctive relief for EPA's violations of law . The Plaintiff States and their affected citizens have

no adequate remedy at law for EPA's unlawful weakening of TRI reporting requirements . The

Plaintiff States and their affected citizens continue to suffer irreparable injury as a result of that

unlawful action .

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIE F

5 U.S. C. § 706(2) (A) & (C)
Violations of EPCRA section 3130(2) and PPA sections 6607(a)-(c) -

EPA 's failure to apply the substantial majority standard based on reporting from al l
facilities subject to section 31 3

185. The Plaintiff States reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 18 4

in this claim for relief .

186. EPCRA section 3130(2), 42 U.S .C . § 11023(0(2), authorizes EPA to revise I'R I

reporting thresholds based on reporting from all facilities subject to that statutory provision .

187. Specifically, section 3130(2) states that EPA may revise the threshold for a TR I

chemical so long as the revised threshold "shall obtain reporting on a substantial majority of tota l
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releases of the chemical at all facilities subject to the requirements of [section 313] . " 42 U .S .C .

§ 11023(0(2) (emphasis added) .

188. PPA sections 6607(a)-(c) provide that facilities required to file information unde r

EPCRA section 313 must also file additional information regarding waste management practices ,

so that reporting thresholds for EPCRA apply also to PPA reporting requirements . 42 U.S .C .

§ 13106(a)-(c) .

189. On information and belief, in promulgating the non-PBT provisions of the 200 6

Regulations, EPA did not apply the substantial majority test consistent with this "all facilitie s"

standard, as EPA excluded from the calculations upon which it relied many releases fro m

facilities subject to section 313 .

190. Pursuant to the 1994 Regulations, facilities can file, and routinely do file, Form A

certifications rather than a full Form R report if they satisfy the requirements for filing Form A .

191. Because Form A does not require facilities to report the quantity of their releases ,

facilities' use of this preexisting entitlement to file Form A under the 1994 Regulations has

already been creating reporting losses for releases for over a decade since those regulations were

promulgated . These reporting losses under the 1994 Regulations continue to date, and woul d

continue even if the 2006 Regulations had not been promulgated . Thus, the reporting losses

under the 1994 Regulations (the "independent reporting losses ") are independent of th e

additional reporting losses that will be generated by the new 2006 Regulations .

192. EPA concedes that facilities generating these independent reporting losses remai n

subject to the requirements of section 313, as EPA relies on section 313 as authority in requirin g

those facilities to submit Form A .

193. Nonetheless, on information and belief, in promulgating the 200 6
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Regulations, EPA relied on calculations of the amount of reporting losses resulting from th e

2006 Regulations that did not take into account such independent reporting losses .

194. Thus, in excluding from its calculations these independent reporting losses fro m

facilities subject to the requirements of section 313, EPA did not rely on an analysis o f

"releases . . . at all facilities subject to section 313, " as required by section 313(0(2) .

195. The effect of EPA's failure to rely on calculations applying the "all facilities "

standard is potentially to underestimate the amount of reporting losses, and thus potentially t o

misjudge the extent to which the section 313(0(2) substantial majority test is satisfied .

196. As noted in paragraph 167 above, 2,6-TDI is reasonably anticipated to be a

carcinogen, can irritate and burn the eyes and skin on contact, and can irritate the nose, throat and

lungs if inhaled .

197. In an analysis for releases of 2,6-TDI that EPA relied on in support of the Fina l

Rule, EPA calculated a reporting loss of 600 pounds, or 47 .35 percent, implying a minimum

reporting of 52 .65 percent of releases for that chemical . Economic Analysis (Final Rule) at A-15 .

198. On information and belief, those EPA calculations for 2,6-TDI, like EPA's other

calculations of reporting losses for the Final Rule in the administrative record, did not take int o

account the independent reporting losses for that chemical .

199. On information and belief, a reasonable analysis for releases of 2,6-TDI that di d

take into account the independent reporting losses, but otherwise used the same assumptions tha t

EPA had used, would estimate a much greater reporting loss and would imply a minimu m

reporting of less than fifty percent of releases for that chemical, which is not even a majority o f

releases, let alone a "substantial " majority .
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200. Therefore, on information and belief, in promulgating the Final Rule, EPA did no t

ensure that the alternate reporting thresholds for non-PBT chemicals obtained reporting o n

releases from "all facilities subject to the requirements of [section 313]," and the promulgation i s

therefore not in accordance with EPCRA section 313(0(2), 42 U .S.C. § 11023(0(2), or PPA

section 6607(a)-(c), 42 U .S .C . §§ 13106(a)-(c), and is in excess of that statutory authority an d

limitations .

201. Thus, APA section 703, 5 U .S.C. § 703, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 2 8

U.S .C . § 2201(a), entitle the Plaintiff States to a declaration in this actual controversy that the

provisions of the Final Rule regarding non-PBT chemicals are not in accordance with law and ar e

in excess of statutory authority and limitations .

202. In addition, APA sections 706(2)(A) and (C), 5 U .S .C . §§ 706(2)(A) & (C), giv e

this Court the power to hold unlawful and set aside the provisions of the Final Rule regarding

non-PBT chemicals, and in particular 40 C .F.R. §§ 372 .27(a)(1) and 372 .95(b)(4)(i) .

203. EPA's violations of law have injured and continue to injure the Plaintiff States and

their affected citizens . Relief in this action would benefit the Plaintiff States and their affected

citizens by invalidating the new, less stringent alternative reporting thresholds for non-PB T

chemicals and thereby ensure that facilities continue to provide more comprehensive informatio n

about their use, releases and other waste management quantities of TRI chemicals .

204. APA sections 702 and 703, 5 U .S.C. §§ 702 & 703, authorize the award o f

injunctive relief for EPA's violations of law . The Plaintiff States and their affected citizens have

no adequate remedy at law for EPA's unlawful weakening of TRI reporting requirements . The

Plaintiff States and their affected citizens continue to suffer irreparable injury as a result o f

EPA's unlawful action .
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIE F

5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A)
Arbitrary and capricious rulemaking -

EPA 's failure to respond in a reasoned manner to comments regarding the need to tak e
independent reporting losses into account in applying section 313(J)(2 )

205. The Plaintiff States reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 20 4

in this claim for relief.

206. Agency rulemaking is arbitrary and capricious if the agency has failed cogently t o

explain why it has exercised its discretion in a given manner, the agency has failed to respond i n

a reasoned manner to significant comments received, or if there are no findings or analysis t o

justify the choice the agency made nor any indication of the basis on which the agency exercise d

its discretion .

207. A group of commenters asked whether or not EPA, in calculating reporting losse s

under the new alternative reporting requirements, had taken into account the independen t

reporting losses discussed in paragraphs 190-199 above . Response to Comments at 106 .

208. The commenters raised this point because failure to take the independent reportin g

losses into account would be contrary to section 313(0(2) and arbitrary and capricious .

209. Specifically, interpreting the statute to exclude the independent reporting losse s

could allow EPA to evade the substantial majority test by repeatedly increasing reportin g

thresholds in such a way that ultimately much less than a "substantial majority" of releases ,

however that term is defined, would be reported .

210. For example, EPA might first raise the ARA threshold from 500 to 5,000 pounds ,

claiming that the 5,000-pound threshold would continue to gather reporting on a "substantia l

majority" of releases because EPA, in its calculation of reporting losses, did not take int o

consideration independent reporting losses under the 500-pound threshold . EPA might
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subsequently raise the ARA threshold from 5,000 to 20,000 pounds, claiming that the 20,000 -

pound threshold would continue to gather reporting on a "substantial majority" of release s

because EPA, in its calculation of reporting losses, did not take into consideration independen t

reporting losses under the 5,000-pound threshold . EPA might then revise the ARA threshol d

from 20,000 pounds to 50,000 pounds, claiming that the 50,000-pound threshold would continu e

to gather reporting on a "substantial majority" of releases because EPA, in its calculation of

reporting losses, did not take into consideration independent reporting losses under the 20,000 -

pound threshold .

211. Thus, interpreting the statute to exclude the independent reporting losses allow s

EPA to rely on an ever-shrinking reporting base when calculating whether a proposed regulatio n

continues to obtain a "substantial majority" of reporting on releases .

212. After such repeated whittling away at reporting requirements, it could be the cas e

that less than a substantial majority of releases from facilities subject to section 313 – perhap s

even a minority of such releases – would be reported for one or more TRI chemicals .

213. Such an interpretation of the statute would be contrary to the letter and spirit of the

statute, and therefore such an interpretation, along with any calculations relying on such an

interpretation, would be arbitrary and capricious .

214. In its response to the commenters on this point, EPA stated that it considered th e

independent reporting losses by identifying in the administrative record an analysis of th e

Proposed Rule that took into account such losses, found at docket number EPA-HQ-TRI-2005 -

0073-0020 (the "0020 Analysis") . Response to Comments at 107 .
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2 15 . Notwithstanding the presence of the 0020 Analysis in the administrative record ,

however, on information and belief EPA did not rely on reporting loss figures from the 002 0

Analysis in justifying the Proposed Rule .

216. Instead, on information and belief, EPA relied on reporting loss figures from a

separate analysis contained in Table A-1 to the Economic Analysis (Proposed Rule), found at

docket number EPA-HQ-TRI-2005-0073-0009 (the "0009 Analysis"), in justifying the Propose d

Rule .

217. The 0020 and 0009 Analyses provide different reporting loss calculations .

218. Specifically, the amounts of reporting losses for a 5,000-pound ARA threshold leve l

differ between the two analysis for numerous chemicals . For example, for at least 20 of the firs t

25 chemicals on the 0020 Analysis, the amount of lost reporting for releases on the 002 0

Analysis varies from the amount of lost reporting for releases on the 0009 Analysis .

219. In addition, the 0020 Analysis shows that 42 TRI chemicals might have lost al l

Form R reporting in 2002 had the proposed regulations applied, while the 0009 Analysis show s

that 26 TRI chemicals might have done so .

220. On information and belief, the difference between the 0020 and 0009 Analyses i s

that the 0020 Analysis takes into account independent reporting losses arising from the pre -

existing 500-pound threshold, while the 0009 Analysis does not .

221. On information and belief, in the preamble to the Proposed Rule, EPA reference d

figures from the 0009 Analysis but did not reference figures from the 0020 Analysis .

222. For example, the preamble to the Proposed Rule indicated that 26 TRI chemical s

might have lost all Form R reporting in 2002 had the proposed regulations applied, 70 Fed. Reg .

at 57843/3, which is consistent with the 0009 Analysis but inconsistent with the 0020 Analysis .
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223. With regard to the Final Rule, it is impossible to determine with certainty whethe r

EPA considered independent reporting losses from the pre-existing 500-pound threshold in th e

analyses it put in the administrative record in support of the final regulations, because EPA faile d

clearly to explain in the preamble to the Final Rule or the economic analysis for the Final Rul e

whether it had done so or not .

224. On information and belief, however, the analyses in the administrative record that

EPA relied on to support the Final Rule did not take into account those independent reportin g

losses .

225. For example, EPA stated that certain of its calculations of reporting losses arisin g

from the new reporting thresholds were calculated "[r]elative to" the preexisting reportin g

threshold . 71 Fed. Reg. at 76942/2 .

226. EPA also expressly stated that the burden and cost reduction analyses underlying

Tables 3-1, 3-2 and 3-3 of the economic analysis for the Final Rule "do[ ] not include" the non -

PBT Form Rs that were likely eligible for Form A, before enactment of the 2006 Regulations ,

based in an ARA of less than or equal to 500 pounds . Economic Analysis (Final Rule) at 3-1 t o

3-2 .

227. On information and belief, there is in fact no analysis of the Final Rule in th e

administrative record that takes into account independent reporting losses for the pre-existin g

500-pound ARA threshold .

228. EPA's failure to explain that the analysis upon which, on information and belief, i t

relied to support the Proposed Rule did not take into account the independent reporting losses ,

and EPA's failure to explain whether or not the analysis upon which it relied to support the Fina l
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Rule took into account the independent reporting losses, render the 2006 rulemaking arbitrar y

and capricious .

229. EPA's failure, on information and belief, to take the independent reporting losse s

into account in the Final Rule, along with EPA's failure to explain why it determined, o n

information and belief, that not taking the independent reporting losses into account wa s

consistent with the law, render the 2006 rulemaking arbitrary and capricious .

230. EPA's failure to respond in a reasoned manner to comments raising the issue o f

independent reporting losses renders the 2006 rulemaking arbitrary and capricious .

231. Because this aspect of the 2006 rulemaking is arbitrary and capricious, APA section

703, 5 U.S .C . § 703, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S .C . § 2201(a), entitle the Plaintiff

States to a declaration that EPA has violated the law in this actual controversy .

232. In addition, APA section 706(2)(A), 5 U .S .C . § 706(2)(A), gives this Court th e

power to hold unlawful and set aside the provisions of the Final Rule regarding non-PB T

chemicals, and in particular 40 C .F.R. §§ 372.27(a)(1) and 372 .95(b)(4)(i) .

233. EPA's violation of the APA has injured and continues to injure the Plaintiff State s

and their affected citizens . Relief in this action would benefit the Plaintiff States and thei r

affected citizens by invalidating the new alternative reporting thresholds and thereby ensure that

facilities continue to provide more comprehensive information about their use, releases and othe r

waste management quantities of TRI chemicals .

234. APA sections 702 and 703, 5 U .S .C . §§ 702 & 703, authorize the award o f

injunctive relief for EPA's violations of law . The Plaintiff States and their affected citizens have

no adequate remedy at law for EPA's unlawful weakening of TRI reporting requirements . The
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Plaintiff States and their affected citizens continue to suffer irreparable injury as a result of that

unlawful action .

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

5 U S. C. § 706(2) (A)
Arbitrary and capricious rulemaking -

EPA 's failure to respond in a reasoned manner to comments regarding the exten t
to which the reduction in reporting under the 2006 Regulations is

contrary to the purpose of TRI

235. The Plaintiff States reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 23 4

in this claim for relief.

236. Agency rulemaking is arbitrary and capricious if the agency has failed cogently t o

explain why it has exercised its discretion in a given manner, or if the agency has failed t o

respond in a reasoned manner to significant comments received .

237. Among TRI's principal purposes is to provide information to local communitie s

about use, waste generation and releases of toxic chemicals .

238. By statute, Congress provided that the purpose of TRI is to :

provide information to the Federal, State, and local governments and the public,
including citizens of communities surrounding covered facilities . The release
form shall be available . . . to inform persons about releases of toxic chemicals t o
the environment; to assist governmental agencies, researchers, and other persons
in the conduct of research and data gathering ; to aid in the development o f
appropriate regulations, guidelines, and standards ; and for other similar purposes .

42 U .S .C. § 11023(h) (emphasis added) .

239. EPA has stated that TRI's "overriding purpose . . . is to provide governmen t

agencies, researchers, and local communities, with a comprehensive picture of toxic chemica l

releases and potential exposures to humans and ecosystems ." Lead and Lead Compounds ;

Lowering of Reporting Thresholds ; Community Right-to-Know Toxic Chemical Releas e

Reporting; Final Rule, 66 Fed. Reg . 4500, 4506/2 (Jan. 17, 2001) (emphasis added) .
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240. More specifically. EPA has stated that :

a significant part of [TRI's] overriding goal is to provide information on release s
to local communities so that they can determine if the releases result in potentia l
risks . The entire concept of TRI . . . is founded on the belief that the public has
the right to know about chemical use, release, and other waste management in the

areas in which they live . . . .

Persistent Bioaccumulative Toxic (PBT) Chemicals ; Final Rule, 64 Fed. Reg. 58666, 5867 7

(Oct. 29, 1999) (emphasis added) .

241. Commenters, including several states, noted that the proposed reporting threshold s

in the Proposed Rule improperly limited information available to state governments, citin g

specific examples of potential information deficits . See, e.g., New York Attorney General, et al. ,

Comments on the TRI Burden Reduction Proposed Rule at 16-17, docket no . EPA-HQ-TRI -

2005-0073-4553 (Jan . 12, 2006) ; see also Response to Comments at 13, 29, 32, 41-42, 107-08 ,

112 .

242. New Hampshire, for example, estimated that the Proposed Rule would hav e

allowed 119 of 151 businesses that currently provide full Form R reporting to stop doing so .

New York Attorney General, et al ., Comments on the TRI Burden Reduction Proposed Rule a t

16, docket no. EPA-HQ-TRI-2005-0073-4553 (Jan . 12, 2006) .

243. Commenters, including, for example, the Conference of Mayors, noted that th e

proposed reporting thresholds in the Proposed Rule improperly limited information available at a

local level contrary to the TRI purpose of providing TRI information to local communities, citin g

specific examples of potential local information deficits . See, e.g., Response to Comments at 13 ,

21, 27-29, 31-32, 107, 109-110, 112-13 .

244. Commenters noted that communities remain interested in TRI data for a facilit y

even when there are no releases from the facility, because Form R provides information usefu l
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for emergency planning purposes, such as the maximum amount of a chemical on site during th e

year and the amount of chemical waste management quantities generated at the site o r

transported through a community during the year . See, e.g., New York Attorney General, et al. ,

Comments on the TRI Burden Reduction Proposed Rule, docket no . EPA-HQ-TRI-2005-0073-

4553, at 13 (Jan . 12, 2006) ; see also Response to Comments at 34, 81 .

245. The inability to tell whether there were any releases from a facility, and the inability

to know how much of a chemical is stored on site, each significantly compromise the quality o f

TRI data and the usefulness of TRI information to the public .

246. For example, mercury is subject to the new alternate reporting thresholds fo r

covered PBT chemicals in the 2006 Regulations .

247. Mercury is a dangerous compound that can harm the nervous system (includin g

personality changes, tremors, changes in vision, deafness, muscle incoordination and difficultie s

with memory), the kidneys, the stomach and the intestines .

248. Before the 2006 Regulations took effect, a community would have known, fo r

emergency response or other purposes, whether a local facility had used more than 10 pounds o f

mercury during the previous year, and if so, the maximum amount of mercury (in ranges) on sit e

at that facility during the course of the year, because any facility using more than 10 pounds o f

mercury would have had to file Form R . At the same time, the community would see how much

mercury was being transported from the facility on local streets .

249. Under the 2006 Regulations, however, that same facility could use a much large r

amount, for example 9,000 pounds — 4 V2 tons — of mercury, and, in an emergency or otherwise ,

the community might have no access to the range of information provide on Form R, such as th e
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maximum amount of mercury on site at that facility, because even with that large usage amount ,

the facility might still qualify for Form A certification .

250. EPA has acknowledged that TRI data users cannot find all of the informatio n

provided on Form R elsewhere . Response to Comments at 32 .

251. EPA has also acknowledged that, had the 2006 Regulations applied in 2004, ther e

would have been 557 ZIP codes where all Form Rs (for both non-PBT chemicals and covere d

PBT chemicals) would have become eligible for Form A, so that it is possible that no reportin g

would have been done on Form R in those ZIP codes . Economic Analysis (Final Rule) at 5-5

(Table 5-4) .

252. On information and belief, this figure of 557 ZIP codes does not include hundred s

of additional ZIP codes where, even under the preexisting reporting thresholds, only Form As ,

and no Form Rs, were filed . See id. ; see also 70 Fed. Reg. at 57843/2 .

253. Concerning non-PBT chemicals, for each of those 557 or more ZIP codes, ther e

might have been no way to determine whether or not there were any releases of any such

chemicals, since, under the 2006 Regulations, Form A for non-PBT chemicals does no t

distinguish between zero releases and positive quantities of releases up to 2,000 pounds .

254. EPA responded to the comments concerning loss of TRI data for non-PB T

chemicals by stating that it had added a 2,000-pound threshold for releases of non-PB T

chemicals in the Final Rule, and that with this addition the Final Rule : (a) reduced the estimated

reporting loss by 60 percent, by comparison with the Proposed Rule ; (b) preserved 80 percent o f

the burden reduction that would have resulted from the Proposed Rule ; and (c) as a result struc k

a better balance than the Proposed Rule . See, e.g., Response to Comments at 14, 22, 30, 43, 114 .
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255. Thus, although EPA acknowledged the local information deficits, EPA 's response

did not address either the extent to which localities might or might not experience such deficit s

with respect to non-PBT chemicals or the extent to which the Final Rule remedied any such loca l

information deficits .

256. Concerning covered PBT chemicals, for each of those 557 or more ZIP codes, there

might have been no way to determine the specific amount of waste quantities other than releases ,

or the maximum amount of such chemicals on site, since Form A does not require facilities t o

report the amount of the chemical used or the maximum amount of chemicals on site .

257. EPA responded to the comments concerning loss of TRI data for covered PB T

chemicals by stating that :

because the proposed rule as well as the final rule requires zero releases for PB T
chemical Form A eligibility, there will be no loss of detailed PBT releas e
information. For all 2,360 PBT chemical forms expected to qualify for Form A
under this rule, communities and other data users will know that the facility ha d
zero releases to the environment of the PBT chemical and between zero and 50 0
pounds of other waste management .

Response to Comments at 33 ; see also id . at 43. EPA also indicated that for some PBT

chemicals, Form A would indicate the form of waste management used, as only one form o f

waste management is available for certain PBT chemicals . Id. at 43 .

258. Thus, although EPA responded to the comments with arguments regarding releases

of covered PBT chemicals, it did not respond with arguments regarding the extent to which th e

Final Rule would (a) create local deficits of TRI information regarding waste managemen t

quantities other than releases and the maximum amount stored on site for PBT chemicals, or (b )

otherwise interfere with local communities' ability to evaluate and measure waste managemen t

quantities other than releases and the maximum amount stored on site for PBT chemicals in thei r

area .
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259. EPA also contends that, in the aggregate, any loss of TRI information for covered

PBT chemicals would be "minimal" because it estimated that only approximately 2,700 PB T

Form Rs would qualify for Form A under the 2006 Regulations, and that of those, approximatel y

2,100 reported zero waste management quantities other than releases . See, e.g., Response to

Comments at 79, 80 ; compare Response to Comments at 29 (asserting that approximately 2,36 0

Form Rs would qualify for Form A) .

260. These contentions, however, do not address the fact that communities may n o

longer able to verify whether a facility that previously had zero or a few pounds of other waste

management quantities of a PBT chemical has increase those other waste management quantitie s

to up to 500 pounds, or whether a facility had increased the maximum amount stored on site fro m

80 pounds to 8,000 pounds .

261. Moreover, these EPA contentions do not address the distribution of these effects o n

local communities across the nation — whether, for example, the effects would be concentrated i n

particular communities or felt across a wide variety of communities .

262. EPA's failure to offer a cogent explanation as to why the loss of TRI data for state s

and local communities was not contrary to TRI's purpose to provide comprehensive informatio n

about toxic chemical use and waste practices to states and local communities, and its failure t o

respond in a reasoned manner to comments raising this issue, renders the 2006 rulemakin g

arbitrary and capricious .

263. Because this aspect of the 2006 rulemaking is arbitrary and capricious, APA sectio n

703, 5 U.S.C. § 703, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U .S .C . § 2201(a), entitle the Plaintiff

States to a declaration that EPA has violated the law in this actual controversy .
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264. In addition, APA section 706(2)(A), 5 U .S .C . § 706(2)(A), gives this Court th e

power to hold unlawful and set aside the Final Rule, and in particular 40 C .F.R. §§ 372 .27(a)(1 )

and (2) and §§ 372 .95(b)(4)(i) and (ii) .

265. EPA's violation of the APA has injured and continues to injure the Plaintiff State s

and their affected citizens . Relief in this action would benefit the Plaintiff States and thei r

affected citizens by invalidating the new alternative reporting thresholds and thereby ensure that

facilities continue to provide more comprehensive information about their use, releases and othe r

waste management quantities of TRI chemicals .

266. APA sections 702 and 703, 5 U .S .C. §§ 702 & 703, authorize the award o f

injunctive relief for EPA's violations of law . The Plaintiff States and their affected citizens have

no adequate remedy at law for EPA's unlawful weakening of TRI reporting requirements . The

Plaintiff States and their affected citizens continue to suffer irreparable injury as a result of that

unlawful action .

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIE F

5 U.S.0 § 706(2)(A)
Arbitrary and capricious rulemaking -

EPA 's failure to explain how it selected the new reporting threshold amount s
for non-PBT chemicals

267. The Plaintiff States reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 26 6

in this claim for relief .

268. Agency rulemaking is arbitrary and capricious if the agency has failed cogently to

explain why it has exercised its discretion in a given manner, if the agency has failed to respon d

in a reasoned manner to those significant comments received, or if there are no findings o r

analysis to justify the choice the agency made nor any indication of the basis on which the agenc y

exercised its discretion .
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269. In the Final Rule, as part of the new alternative reporting requirements, EPA

retained the 5,000-pound threshold for the ARA from the Proposed Rule, and added a 2,000 -

pound threshold for releases .

270. EPA nowhere explains how it decided that these particular amounts — 5,000 pound s

and 2,000 pounds — are better thresholds than other amounts .

271. Commenters asserted that EPA had failed to explain why it decided to establish a

5,000-pound threshold for the ARA rather than set the threshold at some other amount .

Response to Comments at 140 .

272. In response, EPA did not provide a justification for the 5,000-pound ARA threshol d

rather than some other threshold amount . Response to Comments at 141-42 .

273. Indeed, although EPA had proposed possible alternate ARA thresholds of 1,00 0

pounds and 2,000 pounds, EPA did not even explain why it chose the 5,000-pound ARA

threshold rather than one of those thresholds .

274. As for the 2,000-pound release threshold, to the extent any threshold for releases for

non-PBT chemicals were lawful and not arbitrary and capricious, such a threshold should hav e

been set at zero, or failing that, EPA should have justified choosing a lower number than th e

number it did choose .

275. Setting the threshold at a lower number would have preserved more reporting on

releases, other waste management quantities and use of toxic chemicals and therefore would b e

more consistent with the "overriding purpose " of TRI "to provide government agencies ,

researchers, and local communities, with a comprehensive picture of toxic chemical releases an d

potential exposures to humans and ecosystems ." 66 Fed. Reg. at 4506 (emphasis added) .
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276. Setting the threshold at a lower number would have also created greater incentives

to reduce releases . Setting the threshold at a lower number would (a) better preserve the well -

documented incentive to reduce releases that TRI reporting obligations create ; and (b) potentiall y

create a better incentive to reduce releases well below 2,000 pounds, because the threshold fo r

reducing releases that facilities would need to meet to avoid reporting on Form R would be zer o

or some number less than 2,000 pounds, rather than 2,000 pounds .

277. Moreover, setting the threshold for releases at zero pounds would have eliminate d

the issue of whether the non-PBT provisions of the 2006 Rule were inconsistent with th e

substantial majority test of EPCRA section 313(0(2) . See First and Third Claims for Relief,

above.

278. EPA's failure to set forth adequately the reasons why it decided on these threshol d

amounts, its failure to respond in a reasoned manner to comments raising that issue, its failure t o

provide findings or analysis to justify the choices made ; and its failure to set the threshold fo r

releases at zero or some amount less than 2,000 pounds, render the 2006 rulemaking arbitrar y

and capricious.

279. Because these aspects of the 2006 rulemaking are arbitrary and capricious, APA

section 703, 5 U .S .C. § 703, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U .S.C. § 2201(a), entitle the

Plaintiff States to a declaration that EPA has violated the law in this actual controversy .

280. In addition, APA section 706(2)(A), 5 U .S .C . § 706(2)(A), gives this Court th e

power to hold unlawful and set aside the provisions of the Final Rule regarding non-PB T

chemicals, and in particular 40 C .F .R . §§ 372.27(a)(1) and 372.95(b)(4)(i) .

281. EPA's violation of the APA has injured and continues to injure the Plaintiff State s

and their affected citizens . Relief in this action would benefit the Plaintiff States and thei r

50


	page 1
	page 2
	page 3
	page 4
	page 5
	page 6
	page 7
	page 8
	page 9
	page 10
	page 11
	page 12
	page 13
	page 14
	page 15
	page 16
	page 17
	page 18
	page 19
	page 20
	page 21
	page 22
	page 23
	page 24
	page 25
	page 26
	page 27
	page 28
	page 29
	page 30
	page 31
	page 32
	page 33
	page 34
	page 35
	page 36
	page 37
	page 38
	page 39
	page 40
	page 41
	page 42
	page 43
	page 44
	page 45
	page 46
	page 47
	page 48
	page 49
	page 50

